MOLECULAR AND CELLULAR BASIS OF *BARTONELLA* PATHOGENESIS

Christoph Dehio

Division of Molecular Microbiology, Biozentrum, University of Basel, 4056 Basel, Switzerland; email: christoph.dehio@unibas.ch

Key Words cell proliferation, antiapoptosis, invasion, endothelial cell, erythrocyte, type IV secretion system

The genus Bartonella comprises several important human pathogens ■ Abstract that cause a wide range of clinical manifestations: cat-scratch disease, trench fever, Carrión's disease, bacteremia with fever, bacillary angiomatosis and peliosis, endocarditis, and neuroretinitis. Common features of bartonellae include transmission by blood-sucking arthropods and the specific interaction with endothelial cells and erythrocytes of their mammalian hosts. For each Bartonella species, the invasion and persistent intracellular colonization of erythrocytes are limited to a specific human or animal reservoir host. In contrast, endothelial cells are target host cells in probably all mammals, including humans. Bartonellae subvert multiple cellular functions of human endothelial cells, resulting in cell invasion, proinflammatory activation, suppression of apoptosis, and stimulation of proliferation, which may cumulate in vasoproliferative tumor growth. This review summarizes our understanding of Bartonella-host cell interactions and the molecular mechanisms of bacterial virulence and persistence. In addition, current controversies and unanswered questions in this area are highlighted.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
NATURAL HISTORY AND EPIDEMIOLOGY	
Bartonella bacilliformis	
Bartonella quintana	
Bartonella henselae	
Other Human-Pathogenic Bartonellae	
BARTONELLA-HOST CELL INTERACTIONS	
Erythrocyte Interaction	
Endothelial Cell Interaction	
Macrophage Interaction: The Paracrine Loop of Vasoproliferation	
BACTERIAL FACTORS INVOLVED IN PATHOGENESIS	
Type IV Secretion Systems	
Angiogenic Factor: Trigger of Vasoproliferation	

Deformin: Deformation of Erythrocyte Membranes	
Flagella: Strengthening Erythrocyte Interaction	
Lipopolysaccharide: Unique Structure with Low Endotoxicity .	
Pili: Binding to Nucleated Cells	
Other Putative Pathogenesis Factors of Bartonella	
CONCLUDING REMARKS	

INTRODUCTION

Bartonella bacilliformis has been known as a human pathogen for nearly one century (3), and it was the only species of the genus Bartonella until the beginning of the 1990s. Since then, the reclassification of previously described genera based on 16S rRNA sequences (i.e., Grahamella and Rochalimaea) (11, 13, 45, 95, 107, 121, 123) and the description of novel species isolated from various animal reservoirs (9, 10, 36, 44, 54, 55, 68-70, 79, 124) resulted in a major expansion of the genus Bartonella to currently 20 species, among which 8 have been associated with human disease (3, 31, 63, 68, 70, 91, 96, 121, 124) (Table 1). The human pathogenic species are extraordinarily adept at establishing long-term infections that can either manifest as acute or chronic disease, or be clinically asymptomatic with the potential to resurface later. Understanding the cellular interactions and factors that contribute to this long and complex relationship between pathogen and host is essential to our ability to modulate its clinical outcomes. In this review I discuss diseases caused by *Bartonella* species in the context of their host range, pathology, pathogen-host cell interaction, and pathogenesis. I highlight commonalities and differences that aid in the understanding of their pathogenic mechanisms, describe recent studies of *Bartonella* virulence factors that illuminate mechanisms of pathogenesis, and concentrate on recent advances and current outstanding issues.

NATURAL HISTORY AND EPIDEMIOLOGY

Bartonellae are small pleomorphic gram-negative bacilli that belong to the α -2 subdivision of *Proteobacteria*. These arthropod-borne pathogens cause a persistent, often-asymptomatic intraerythrocytic bacteremia in their mammalian reservoir hosts. As our knowledge progresses, we may learn that the chronic infection of erythrocytes and endothelial cells as major target cell types actually predisposes the host to mild, insidious manifestations or induces, in selected instances, severe diseases (27, 34, 39). A wide range of mammalian hosts, including domestic and wild animals, serves as reservoir hosts for the 20 described *Bartonella* species (Table 1). Depending on the ecology of the blood-sucking arthropod vector, intraerythrocytic bacteremia can be highly prevalent in the reservoir population, e.g., >80% of the individuals are infected in wild ruminant populations (9, 23, 36,

Bartonella species	Reservoir	Vector	Human disease(s)
Human-specific species			
B. bacilliformis	Human	Sandfly	Carrión's disease: Oroya fever and verruga peruana
B. quintana	Human	Body louse	Trench fever, endocarditis, bacillary angiomatosis
Zoonotic species			
B. clarridgeiae	Cat	Cat flea	Cat-scratch disease
B. elizabethae	Rat	?	Endocarditis, neuroretinitis
B. grahamii	Mouse, vole	?	Neuroretinitis
B. henselae	Cat	Cat flea	Cat-scratch disease, endocarditis, bacillary angiomatosis, bacillary peliosis, neuroretinitis, bacteremia with fever
B. vinsonii subsp. arupensis	Mouse	Ticks	Bacteremia with fever
B. washoensis	Ground squirrels	?	Myocarditis
Animal-specific species			
B. alsatica	Rabbit	?	?
B. birtlesii	Mouse	?	?
B. bovis $(=B. weissii)$	Cattle/cat	?	?
B. capreoli	Roe deer	?	?
B. chomelii	Cattle	?	?
B. doshiae	Vole	?	?
B. koehlerae	Cat	?	?
B. peromysci	Deer, mouse	?	?
B. schoenbuchensis	Roe deer	Deer ked	?
B. talpae	Mole	?	?
B. taylorii	Mouse, vole	?	?
B. tribocorum	Rat	?	?
B. vinsonii subsp. berkhoffii	Dog	Ticks	?
B. vinsonii subsp. vinsonii	Vole	Vole ear mite	?

TABLE 1 Bartonella species, their natural reservoir and vector, and the resulting human diseases

40). Humans serve as the reservoir host for *B. bacilliformis* and *B. quintana*, with clinical manifestations resulting from both intraerythrocytic bacteremia as well as endothelial cell association (27, 34, 39). Other *Bartonella* species, for which humans are not the natural reservoir, tend to cause persistent bacteremia only in immunodeficient individuals, and in this case without evidence for intraerythrocytic localization, as typically observed in the reservoir host. For these zoonotic infections, the severity of the clinical presentation correlates well with the status of the host's immune system (34, 39, 97) and often reflects a prominent endothelial cell association, i.e., by the formation of vasoproliferative lesions (35).

Bartonella bacilliformis

B. bacilliformis was described by the Peruvian physician Alberto Barton in 1909. He observed the presence of intraerythrocytic bacilli in blood smears of patients suffering from Carrión's disease (3). This biphasic disease consists of Oroya fever and verruga peruana and is transmitted by the sandfly Lutzomyia verrucarum. Carrión's disease occurs endemically in the valleys of the South American Andes of Peru, Columbia, and Ecuador (4). Oroya fever is a highly fatal febrile anemia resulting from the massive invasion of erythrocytes. Patients surviving this acute intraerythrocytic phase may develop the verruga peruana as the chronic secondary tissue phase: Bacteria colonize the vascular endothelium and cause vasoproliferative eruptions of the skin, which develop within 1 to 2 months and persist for months to years. Since pre-Incan times, B. bacilliformis has caused debilitating illness, e.g., from 1869 to 1873, when 8,000 of 10,000 railroad workers operating in an endemic area died from Oroya fever (4). However, aside from causing disease, infection may also result in a chronic, asymptomatic bacteremia (22, 27). Bacterial or host factors that determine whether infection results in clinical disease or the asymptomatic carrier state are unknown.

Bartonella quintana

B. quintana was a leading cause of infectious morbidity among Allied troops during World War I (4). Trench fever caused by *B. quintana* is characterized by an intraerythrocytic bacteremia (100) with recurrent, five-day cycling fever, headache, and leg pain (4). The disease is transmitted among humans by the human body louse, Pediculus humanus (4). Although almost forgotten by medical science since the end of World War II, B. quintana re-emerged toward the end of the twentieth century as an agent of disease among the homeless, drug addicts, and other disfavored social groups who are at least occasionally infested by body lice. However, many of the infected individuals do not suffer from disease but develop a chronic asymptomatic, bacteremic carrier state (94). The contemporary disease manifestations include "urban" trench fever and several new disease manifestations such as endocarditis and, specifically in HIV patients, a vasoproliferative disorder called bacillary angiomatosis (BA). Typical manifestations of BA are vasoproliferative skin lesions resembling pyogenic granulomas, hemangiomas, or Kaposi's sarcoma (4), with bacteria found in close association with proliferating endothelial cells (80). The vasoproliferative infection is usually progressive and fatal unless treated by antibiotic therapy (4).

Bartonella henselae

B. henselae is a zoonotic pathogen distributed worldwide. It causes intraerythrocytic bacteremia in cats, which are the natural reservoir hosts (67, 101). The rate of bacteremia (7–43%) and the seroprevalence to the *B. henselae* antigen (4–81%) is higher in cats living in warm, humid geographic regions (51). Cat-to-cat

transmission occurs mainly by the cat flea, *Ctenocephalides felis* (26). In correlation with the infestation with cat fleas, feral cats are more likely to be infected than domestic cats from the same region (25). Although some of these animals may be bacteremic over a period of more than one year, cats are typically asymptomatic (65). On the basis of serological results, however, investigators have determined that naturally infected cats are more likely to suffer from lymphadenitis, gingivitis, and stomatitis, and are predisposed to urological diseases (27).

B. henselae transmission from cat to humans occurs indirectly by the cat flea or directly by cat scratch or bite (24). This pathogen can cause a variety of clinical manifestations in humans. Cat-scratch disease (CSD) was first described in 1950 by the French physician Debré in patients suffering from suppurative lymphadenitis following cat scratches (33). CSD occurs worldwide in all age groups. In the United States, *B. henselae* causes 22,000 diagnosed cases of CSD per year, requiring hospitalization of the infected patient in about 10% of cases. Most cases occur in late fall and winter, when a closer and prolonged contact to indoor cats occurs. Regional lymphadenopathy is the most common clinical manifestation of CSD, but atypical manifestations with involvement of various organs such as the eyes (i.e., neuroretinitis), liver, spleen, central nervous system, skin, and bones may occur. In these immunocompetent hosts, the pathologic response is granulomatous, suppurative, extracellular and intracellular, and generally self-limited (5).

Similar to *B. quintana*, *B. henselae* is a major cause of endocarditis. Homeless and chronically alcoholic individuals are particularly susceptible to the disease. It is estimated that *Bartonella* species account for 3 to 4% of all endocarditis cases (27, 74).

BA is the most common clinical manifestation in immunocompromised, especially HIV-positive, patients of infection with *B. henselae*. The clinical and the histopathological picture of this cutaneous vasoproliferative disease is indistinguishable from BA caused by *B. quintana* (80). However, *B. henselae* can also cause a related vasoproliferative disease in inner organs. This bacillary peliosis (BP) is characterized by vascular proliferation in liver and spleen, which results in the formation of blood-filled cysts (113, 115). Similar to BA, BP is found in association with proliferating endothelial cells (80). Other disease manifestations in the immunocompromised are persistent or relapsing bacteremia with fever (5).

Other Human-Pathogenic Bartonellae

B. bacilliformis, B. quintana, and *B. henselae* are responsible for most human infections with bartonellae. However, in recent years at least five additional zoonotic species have been associated with human disease. *B. elizabethae*, which naturally infects rats (45), was isolated from a patient with endocarditis (31). Similar to *B. henselae, B. clarridgeiae* colonizes cats as the reservoir host and may also cause CSD in humans (68, 102). *B. grahamii* naturally infects rats and other rodents (45, 66) and may cause neuroretinitis in humans (63). *B. vinsonii* spp. *arupensis* infecting mice as the reservoir host was isolated from a bacteremic patient with fever (124). Finally, *B. washoensis*, which typically infects ground squirrels, causes human myocarditis (70).

Our increasing appreciation of the widespread distribution of *Bartonella* species in mammalian hosts will probably lead to the description of novel *Bartonella* species. Likewise, the improvement of diagnostic methods for novel and known species should aid in associating *Bartonella* infection with human disease and may thereby help to recognize the pathogenic potential of these enigmatic pathogens.

BARTONELLA-HOST CELL INTERACTIONS

Erythrocyte Interaction

The common theme in *Bartonella* ecology is a prolonged period of intraerythrocytic bacteremia in the specific mammalian reservoir host, associated with transmission by blood-sucking arthropod vectors (34). Selected aspects of the initial interaction of *B. bacilliformis* and human erythrocytes have been studied in vitro (i.e., bacterial binding and invasion). However, investigating the complex dynamics of erythrocyte parasitism in the long-term course of a hemotropic *Bartonella* infection requires the establishment of appropriate animal models.

ANIMAL MODELS OF ERYTHROCYTE PARASITISM Hemotropic infection by bartonellae has been experimentally established in several animal models (1, 12, 50, 66, 71, 72, 110); however, the course of erythrocyte parasitism was most precisely described for B. tribocorum in a rat model (110). Upon experimental infection in the tail vein, the bacterial inoculum was rapidly cleared from circulating blood, which then stayed sterile for at least three days. On day four or five postinfection, bacteria reappeared in the bloodstream in a synchronous infection wave. The primary niche that allows bacterial replication in the first three days of infection (when the circulating blood is sterile) and then seeds the hemotropic infection is yet unknown. However, circumstantial evidence suggests that this primary niche includes endothelial cells as the major target cells of bartonellae (34, 104, 111, 112) (see below). Bacteria seeded from the primary niche to the bloodstream adhere to mature erythrocytes and subsequently invade them. Following invasion, intracellular multiplication occurs in a membrane-bound compartment over a period of several days. Thereafter, the bacterial cell density remains static for the remaining life span of the infected erythrocytes, which is not shortened by bacterial colonization (110). Because of this nonhemolytic course of erythrocyte parasitism, B. tribocorum can persist for several weeks in a protected intracellular compartment of circulating blood. Moreover, recurrent waves of erythrocyte infection seeded from the primary niche at intervals of \sim five days (110) further extend the duration of the intraerythrocytic bacteremia. This periodicity was interpreted as a result of a five-day-lasting infection cycle in the primary niche, liberating bacteria capable of reinfecting the primary niche as well as infecting mature erythrocytes (34). The resulting long-lasting intraerythrocytic bacteremia is considered to represent a unique adaptation to the mode of transmission by blood-sucking arthropod vectors.

Intraerythrocytic bacteremia in the B. tribocorum-rat model subsides spontaneously after 8 to 10 weeks. Consistently, a prolonged intraerythrocytic course of bacteremia was observed in a murine model of B. grahamii, terminating 8 to 11 weeks postinoculation (66). Infection in these immunocompetent mice triggered a strong IgG antibody response (66). In contrast to the limited hemotropic period in immunocompetent animals, the infection of B cell-deficient mice led to persistent bacteremia (66). Immune serum transfer to these immunocompromised animals resulted in a transient course of bacteremia indistinguishable from that in immunocompetent mice (66). These observations indicate an important role for immunoglobulins in controlling blood-stage infection, although the effector mechanism remains unclear. Erythrocyte colonization by B. tribocorum showed a nonhemolytic course and persisted within infected cells for the average life span of mature erythrocytes. Thus, antibodies probably do not operate against bacterial antigens eventually exposed on the surface of infected erythrocytes, as such mechanisms should result in a more rapid clearance of parasitized erythrocytes. Rather, antibodies may interfere with the infection of mature erythrocytes by capturing extracellular bacteria seeded from the elusive primary niche.

The animal models for both B. tribocorum and B. grahamii have been useful for dissecting the course of hemotropic infection in animal reservoirs of bartonellae (66, 110). They might prove particularly relevant for designing appropriate strategies to prevent infection of animals serving as reservoirs for zoonotic bartonellae (e.g., for controlling infection of the major human pathogen B. henselae in cats as their natural reservoir). In addition, these models gain value as surrogate systems for better understanding human disease caused by intracellular erythrocyte parasitism of *B. quintana* (trench fever) and *B. bacilliformis* (Oroya fever). Remarkably, the feverish relapses of trench fever (also known as five-day fever) coincide with the ~five-day periodicity of erythrocyte infection waves in the *B. tribocorum*-rat model (112). The frequency of parasitized erythrocytes is lower in trench fever patients (between 0.001% and 0.005%) (100) than in the B. tribocorum-rat model $(\sim 0.1\%)$ (110). However, this difference may result from experimental infection of rats, as *B. tribocorum* appears to cause a weaker bacteremia in naturally infected wild rats (55). In sharp contrast to B. quintana and B. tribocorum, B. bacilliformis invades up to 80% of erythrocytes in the course of Oroya fever. The massive hemolysis of parasitized erythrocytes resulting in severe hemolytic anemia-the major symptom of Oroya fever-is also clearly distinguished from the nonhemolytic intraerythrocytic infection course of B. tribocorum (110) and probably also of B. quintana and other Bartonella species.

IN VITRO STUDIES OF ERYTHROCYTE PARASITISM Most *Bartonella* species do not appear to interact strongly with erythrocytes in vitro (60, 84; R. Schulein & C. Dehio, unpublished data), suggesting that the colonization of the elusive primary niche is required to gain competence for erythrocyte interaction (34). The exception

is *B. bacilliformis*, which infects most of the erythrocyte population during natural infection in human and which also binds to and invades human erythrocytes in vitro (8, 15, 85, 103, 126). This in vitro model has been used mainly to characterize factors of *B. bacilliformis* involved in mediating erythrocyte invasion and hemolysis, and is discussed below (see Bacterial Factors Involved in Pathogenesis).

Endothelial Cell Interaction

B. bacilliformis, B. quintana, and B. henselae are unique among all known bacterial pathogens in their ability to cause vasoproliferative lesions, a process of pathological angiogenesis resulting in the formation of new capillaries from pre-existing ones. The fascinating angioproliferative process of bartonellae has attracted considerable interest as both a basic and clinically important biological system, representing a paradigm for pathogen-triggered tumor formation (35, 61, 75). The typical manifestations of *Bartonella*-triggered vasoproliferation are either Kaposi's sarcoma-like lesions of the skin, known as verruga peruana (B. bacilliformis) or BA (B. quintana and B. henselae), or a cystic form in liver and spleen referred to as BP (B. henselae). These lesions comprise proliferating endothelial cells, bacteria, and mixed infiltrates of macrophages/monocytes and polymorphonuclear neutrophils (PMN) (73, 80). Bartonellae are found as aggregates both surrounding and within endothelial cells, indicating that the vascular endothelium represents a target tissue for intra- and extracellular colonization in vivo (80). Clearance of infection by antibiotic treatment results in complete regression of vascular lesions (80). Together, these findings suggest that bartonellae specifically invade and colonize the vascular endothelium and produce a mitogenic factor that acts locally and temporarily. Primary human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) have been used as an in vitro system to study these interactions with the human vascular endothelium, i.e., (a) cell invasion and the associated cytoskeletal rearrangements and (b) endothelial cell proliferation (35). Other endothelial cell interactions studied in this in vitro system include (c) the inhibition of endothelial cell apoptosis and (d) NF- κ B activation and proinflammatory response, which are considered to contribute indirectly to Bartonella-triggered vasoproliferation (35).

CELL INVASION AND ASSOCIATED CYTOSKELETAL REARRANGEMENTS Within hours, all three vasoproliferative *Bartonella* species adhere to and enter HUVEC by an actin-dependent process, resulting in small clusters of bacteria residing in membrane-bound compartments that typically localize to the perinuclear region (14, 38, 118). For *B. bacilliformis*, this uptake route depends on the small GTPases Rho, Rac, and CDC42, which are key regulators of actin reorganization (118–120). These characteristics, presumably shared by all three vasoproliferative bartonellae, are reminiscent of bacterium-directed phagocytosis as previously described for other intracellular pathogens (43). In addition to this classical uptake process, *B. henselae* can enter HUVEC via the "invasome"-mediated mechanism (38). This slow invasion process (lasting 24 h) is initially characterized by the

formation of a bacterial aggregate on the cell surface that subsequently is engulfed and internalized by an actin-dependent mechanism. While the in vivo relevance of invasome-mediated uptake remains to be demonstrated, the bacterial aggregates formed in vitro could correspond to the clumps of bacteria observed in close association with the atypically proliferating endothelial cells in BA lesions (73, 80).

ENDOTHELIAL CELL PROLIFERATION Angiogenesis is a complex process involving several carefully orchestrated steps: Proliferation and migration of endothelial cells are followed by their reorganization into new capillaries. The capacity to stimulate HUVEC proliferation is the simplest criterion for in vitro angiogenesis. Live *B. bacilliformis, B. quintana*, and *B. henselae*, as well as cell-free extracts of these bacteria, are capable of stimulating the proliferation of HUVEC, indicating that soluble and possibly secreted factors are responsible for these bacterial activities (47, 48). *B. henselae* and *B. quintana* further stimulate HUVEC migration through a porous membrane, an additional criterion for in vitro angiogenesis (29). The molecular characterization of the angiogenic activity of the vasoproliferative bartonellae is described below (see Bacterial Factors Involved in Pathogenesis).

INHIBITION OF ENDOTHELIAL CELL APOPTOSIS Cell death by apoptosis is a common response of mammalian cells to bacterial infection. However, some pathogens alleviate or even inhibit apoptosis (52, 75). Likewise, *B. henselae* specifically inhibits apoptosis of HUVEC in vitro by suppressing both early and late events in apoptosis, namely caspase activation and DNA fragmentation, respectively (64). An antiapoptotic activity is also produced by *B. quintana*, but not by the two species *Bartonella vinsonii* and *Bartonella elizabethae*, which have not been associated with angioproliferative lesions (64). Although an antiapoptotic activity alone cannot account for the increase in cell number observed for *Bartonella*-triggered proliferation of endothelial cells in vitro, the enhanced survival of endothelial cells may contribute, at least in part, to the vascular proliferation observed in vivo.

NF-*k*B ACTIVATION AND PROINFLAMMATORY RESPONSE The mixed infiltrate of macrophages/monocytes and PMN found in *Bartonella*-triggered vasoproliferative lesions is indicative of chronic inflammation. An acute inflammatory reaction triggered by the *Bartonella*-infected endothelium may be crucial for initiating chronic inflammation. In general, an acute inflammatory response is thought to induce a mediator cascade that activates the endothelium, resulting in the release of proinflammatory chemoattractants and the sequential establishment of receptor-ligand interactions between the activated endothelium and circulating PMN. Selectins (e.g., E-selectin) mediate the initial attachment and the rolling of PMN. Subsequently, firm adhesion of PMN to the vessel wall occurs via interaction of activated CD11/CD18 (β 2-integrin) receptors with endothelial ligands such as intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1). Finally, transendothelial migration of PMN into tissue occurs in response to chemoattractants [i.e., interleukin (IL)-8]

and the engagement of platelet-endothelial adhesion molecule-1 (PECAM-1) (18). The transcription nuclear factor NF- κ B is considered the primary regulator of this proinflammatory cascade (32).

Infection of HUVEC by B. henselae triggers the activation and nuclear translocation of NF- κ B. The resulting upregulation of ICAM-1 and E-selectin leads to PMN rolling on and adhering to the infected endothelial cell monolayers (46, 78). IL-8 secretion, as shown to occur by the human microvascular endothelial cell line-1 (HMEC-1) in response to *B. henselae* infection (98), should stimulate transendothelial migration of PMN in vivo. The transformation from acute to chronic inflammation can be triggered by the monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1). Thrombin-activated endothelial cells produce MCP-1 in response to a complex of soluble IL-receptor-6 alpha (sIL-6R α), released from PMN membranes, and IL-6, produced in an autocrine manner (81, 98). The macrophages/ monocytes recruited by MCP-1 to vasoproliferative lesions would likely propagate chronic inflammation by releasing proinflammatory cytokines. B. henselaeinfected macrophages (either the mouse cell line J774 or the human cell line THP-1) released high levels of tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), IL-1 β , and IL-6 (92, 98). Taken together, the acute inflammatory response of Bartonella-infected endothelium mediated by NF- κ B appears to be the first step in initiating chronic inflammation.

Macrophage Interaction: The Paracrine Loop of Vasoproliferation

As part of the mixed inflammatory infiltrates in BA lesions (73, 80), cells of the mononuclear phagocyte lineage (i.e., macrophages) may also represent target cells for the vasoproliferative bartonellae. B. henselae was reported to be effectively phagocytosed by J774 cells and to survive within this mouse macrophage cell line for at least several hours (92). However, as macrophages are capable of producing potent angiogenic factors upon activation (116), their primary role during interaction with vasoproliferative bartonellae may be as effector cells that release angiogenic substances and thereby contribute to the process of vasoproliferation in a paracrine fashion. Bartonellae may thereby provoke vasoproliferation by two independent mechanisms: directly, by triggering proliferation and inhibiting apoptosis of endothelial cells, or indirectly, by stimulating a paracrine loop of vasoproliferative host factors. Two independent reports support such a paracrine loop model for Bartonella-triggered vasoproliferation (62, 98). Both vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), one of the most potent inducers of angiogenesis, and IL-1 β , a potentiator of VEGF, are released from the human macrophage cell line THP-1 in response to infection with B. henselae. Importantly, such a conditioned culture medium was able to trigger proliferation of HMEC-1 (98). Likewise, B. henselae infection of Ea.hy 926 cells (a fusion clone of HUVEC and the lung carcinoma cell line A549) triggers secretion of VEGF at levels supporting HUVEC proliferation, while neutralizing anti-VEGF antibody blocked most of the angiogenic activity contained in the conditioned culture medium (62). These data are in favor of a paracrine angiogenic loop with VEGF representing the major vasoproliferative substance released by macrophages in response to *B. henselae* infection (35, 97). PMNs, which represent another major constituent of the mixed inflammatory infiltrates of *Bartonella*-triggered vasoproliferative lesions, are also capable of secreting VEGF in response to bacterial infection, as recently demonstrated for *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (117). However, it is unknown to what extent bartonellae may stimulate VEGF secretion by PMN. In contrast to activated inflammatory cells, endothelial cells are generally considered poor VEGF producers (62, 77, 98), and no evidence is available indicating that *B. henselae* can stimulate an autocrine loop of VEGF-mediated endothelial proliferation.

The proposed role of VEGF as a paracrine mediator of *Bartonella*-triggered vasoproliferation is supported by a recent study on mice implanted with VEGF-secreting melanoma cells. In this model the mice developed a vasoproliferative syndrome in liver, strongly resembling BP as caused by *B. henselae* in human liver (125). These lesions were interpreted as a paraneoplastic syndrome caused by the production of VEGF at the tumor site and the induction of endothelial proliferation in the liver. The authors speculate that there could be a common pathway in this mouse melanoma model and *B. henselae*-triggered BP. The immunohistochemical demonstration of increased VEGF levels in BP and BA lesions supports this notion (62).

BACTERIAL FACTORS INVOLVED IN PATHOGENESIS

In recent years, studies of *Bartonella* pathogenesis have taken a big step forward. The combination of bacterial genetics (7, 37, 41, 49, 76, 99, 108) and appropriate cell culture (8, 38, 46, 47, 64) or animal models (110) of *Bartonella* infection provided the first glimpses of the molecular mechanisms that govern the host cell interactions of these elusive pathogens. Table 2 summarizes the bacterial factors considered to contribute to pathogenesis.

Type IV Secretion Systems

A growing number of bacterial pathogens are known to encode type IV secretion systems (T4SS). These versatile transporters have evolved from bacterial conjugation systems and mediate translocation of bacterial effector molecules during interaction with host cells (21). The prototype of these "adapted conjugation machines" is the VirB-D4 system of *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*. Eleven proteins encoded by the *virB* operon and one encoded by *virD4* build up a pilus and pore complex, which spans both gram-negative bacterial membranes and possibly the host cell membrane, allowing translocation of a nucleoprotein complex from the bacterial cytoplasm directly into the host cell cytoplasm. Human pathogens have adapted the type IV machinery for transport of toxins to the extracellular milieu (i.e., pertussis toxin secreted by *Bordetella pertussis*) or directly into the

Factor(s)	Function	Reference(s)
Angiogenic factor	Stimulates endothelial cell proliferation	(29, 47, 48, 77, 88)
Deformin	Deformation of erythrocyte membranes	(8, 42, 58, 126)
Flagella	Motility, binding to and invasion of erythrocytes	(8, 102, 103)
Hemolysin	Contact-dependent hemolysis	(57)
Hbp/Pap 31	Omp family, hemin-binding proteins	(19, 87, 129)
IalA-B	Putative invasins of erythrocytes	(20, 30, 89, 90)
Iba	Autotransporter, putative adhesins	(34, 112)
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide, detoxified	(128)
Omp43	Putative adhesin for endothelial cells	(16, 17)
pili	Type IV-like pili, twitching motility, cell adhesion	(6, 62)
Trw	T4SS, establishment of intraerythrocytic infection	(111)
VirB-D4-Bep	T4SS, subversion of endothelial cell function	(104, 108; R. Schulein, P. Guye, T.A. Rhomberg, M.C. Schmid & C. Dehio, unpublished results)

 TABLE 2
 A synopsis of pathogenicity factors of Bartonella spp. in alphabetical order

host cell cytosol (e.g., delivery of CagA protein of *Helicobacter pylori* into gastric epithelial cells) (21). *Bartonella* species encode two distinct T4SS, VirB-D4 and Trw, that are both essential for infection in an animal model (108, 111). These T4SS represent to date the only bona fide pathogenesis factors of *Bartonella*.

VirB-D4 T4SS: SUBVERSION OF ENDOTHELIAL CELL FUNCTION A T4SS displaying homology to the prototypic VirB-D4 system of *A. tumefaciens* in *B. henselae* (93, 105; R. Schulein, P. Guye, T.A. Rhomberg, M.C. Schmid & C. Dehio, unpublished results), *B. tribocorum* (108), and *B. quintana* has recently been identified. The *virB-D4* locus of these bartonellae is encoded by an operon of 10 genes (*virB2-10*) and a downstream-located *virD4* gene. The *virB5* and *virB7* genes are atypical, as they are poorly conserved when compared with their orthologs in the T4SS loci of other bacteria. Interestingly, *virB5* encodes a 17-kDa protein that was identified as an immunodominant protein in patients diagnosed for cat-scratch disease (2) and is well conserved across the genus *Bartonella* (114). The function of the 17-kDa antigen is unknown; however, in regard to its immunogenicity and in analogy to the VirB5 homologs from other T4SS, it is reasonable to assume that it localizes as a minor component of the T4SS pilus, where it could serve as an adhesin for mediating interaction with mammalian target cells (127).

Unlike wild-type B. tribocorum, mutants deleted for virB4 or virD4 are unable to cause intraerythrocytic bacteremia in the experimental rat model (108). The VirB-D4 T4SS is required at an early infection stage before the onset of intraerythrocytic bacteremia occurs (108). On the basis of the observation that the virB operon of B. henselae is induced during infection of endothelial cells in vitro (106), it was suggested that the primary niche may correspond to the vascular endothelium and that the VirB-D4 system may thus be involved in mediating endothelial cell interaction in both the mammalian reservoir and the incidental human host (35). Indeed, mutations in either virB4 or virD4 of B. henselae are incapable of mediating most of the known physiological changes associated with B. henselae infection of HUVEC. These include (a) massive rearrangements of the actin cytoskeleton, resulting in the formation of bacterial aggregates and their internalization by the invasome structure; (b) NF- κ B-dependent proinflammatory activation, leading to cell adhesion molecule expression and chemokine secretion; and (c) inhibition of apoptotic cell death, resulting in enhanced endothelial cell survival. Moreover, the VirB-D4 system mediates cytostatic and cytotoxic effects at high bacterial titers, which interfere with the potent VirB-independent mitogenic activity of B. henselae (104, 108). The VirB T4SS is thus a major virulence determinant for B. henselae required for targeting multiple endothelial cell functions exploited by this vasculotropic pathogen.

The downstream region of the *virB* locus in *B. henselae* harbors several genes encoding effector proteins translocated by the VirB-D4 T4SS into endothelial cells (R. Schulein, P. Guye, T.A. Rhomberg, M.C. Schmid & C. Dehio, unpublished results). These Bep (*Bartonella*-translocated effector proteins) proteins share a conserved C-terminal translocation domain, while their heterologous N-terminus is considered to serve effector functions within endothelial cells. Deletion of the locus encoding the Bep proteins results in a mutant phenotype indistinguishable from the *virB4* and *virD4* mutants, demonstrating that the Bep proteins mediate all VirB-D4-dependent host cell phenotypes (R. Schulein, P. Guye, T.A. Rhomberg, M.C. Schmid & C. Dehio, unpublished results). It will be interesting to test whether the conserved VirB-D4 T4SS of other bartonellae translocate a similar set of Bep proteins and whether this results in subversion of the same endothelial cell functions as demonstrated for *B. henselae*.

THE Trw T4SS: ESTABLISHING INTRAERYTHROCYTIC BACTEREMIA The second T4SS of *Bartonella*, Trw, was initially identified in a screen for *B. henselae* promoters, which are specifically activated during in vitro infection of endothelial cells (111). Likewise, expression of the *B. tribocorum trw* locus is upregulated during endothelial cell infection (111). On the basis of the availability of the rat infection model and the complete sequencing of the locus, most of the functional analysis has been done in *B. tribocorum*. The Trw system of *B. tribocorum* shares an extremely high level of sequence identity with the Trw conjugation machinery of the broad-host-range antibiotic-resistance plasmid R388 of enterobacterial origin (up to 80% amino acid identity for individual T4SS components). The highly

conserved T4SS loci are colinear except for the presence of numerous tandem gene duplications in *B. tribocorum*, which mostly encode variant forms of presumable surface-exposed pilus subunits. Conservation is not only structural, but also functional: R388 mutated in either *trwD* or *trwH* encoding essential T4SS components can be *trans*-complemented for conjugation by the homologs of the *B. tribocorum* system. Conservation even includes the transcription regulatory circuit: Both T4SS loci encode a highly homologous and interchangeable KorA/KorB repressor system that negatively regulates expression of all T4SS components. These data suggest that the Trw T4SS of *Bartonella* and R388 have a short history of adaptive evolution from a common ancestor locus. Recent acquisition of the *trw* locus of *B. tribocorum* by horizontal gene transfer is suggested by the presence of a cryptic phage-like integrase at a distal position of the locus, as well as by the fact that flanking chromosomal regions are contiguous in the genomes of related α -proteobacteria (111). By these criteria, the *trw* locus is a pathogenicity island (53).

An essential role of the Trw T4SS in the infection process was demonstrated by genetic means: Unlike wild-type *B. tribocorum*, a mutant deleted for *trwE* was unable to cause intraerythrocytic bacteremia in the experimental rat model (111). Preliminary data indicate that the *trwE* mutant may still be capable of colonizing the primary niche, although after seeding to the blood it is quickly cleared without establishing erythrocyte infection (A. Seubert & C. Dehio, unpublished results). Moreover, the *trw* locus appears to be upregulated in the primary niche (similarly as shown in vitro for HUVEC), as it is already expressed when bacteria are seeded into the bloodstream (A. Seubert & C. Dehio, unpublished results). These data suggest that the Trw T4SS is not required in the primary niche, which may in fact represent the vascular endothelium, as it might already be expressed in this niche to be functional in erythrocyte interaction immediately after release into the blood.

The pilus subunit variants encoded in several copies by the Trw T4SS have been proposed to serve in mediating host cell tropism, i.e., by binding to various erythrocytic blood group antigens present in the reservoir population (111). To date there are no substrates known to be translocated by the Trw system. Moreover, although the Trw system encodes all components required to build up a pore complex across the two bacterial membranes and a T4SS pilus on the surface, this system lacks a VirD4 homolog (111), which is required for substrate transport by most other T4SS (21), i.e., the closely related Trw system of R388 (111). It thus appears reasonable to assume that the primary role of the Trw T4SS is to establish contact to erythrocytes by surface-expressed T4SS pili rather than to translocate effector proteins into host cells as demonstrated for the VirB-D4 T4SS of *B. henselae* (R. Schulein, P. Guye, T.A. Rhomberg, M.C. Schmid & C. Dehio, unpublished results). Clarification of the precise molecular function of the Trw T4SS in establishing erythrocyte infection awaits further experimental evidence.

Angiogenic Factor: Trigger of Vasoproliferation

All three vasoproliferative *Bartonella* species, *B. bacilliformis*, *B. quintana*, and *B. henselae*, display vasoproliferative activities during infection of HUVEC (29,

35, 47, 48, 77). Early studies suggested that the angiogenic factor of B. bacilliformis is a protein because it is heat sensitive, larger than 14 kDa, and can be precipitated with 45% ammonium sulfate (47). A recent study used biochemical and immunological analyses and identified GroEL as a candidate for the observed mitogenic activity (88). A groEL deletion mutant could not be generated, possibly because GroEL is essential in B. bacilliformis as reported for other bacterial species. However, a strain containing the intact groES-groEL operon on a multicopy plasmid was generated and used to demonstrate a correlation between HUVEC mitogenicity and GroEL levels in the lysate. Antiserum to GroEL significantly inhibited mitogenicity of the lysate. Data also indicate that GroEL is located in the soluble and insoluble fractions (including inner and outer membranes) of *B. bacilliformis* and may also be actively secreted (88). Interestingly, a recent study on the zoonotic pathogen Brucella abortus suggested that GroEL is actively secreted by its VirB system (122), a T4SS related to the *Bartonella* VirB-D4 system (108). It might be interesting to test whether secretion of GroEL depends on a functional VirB-D4 T4SS in *B. bacilliformis*. Another open question is whether GroEL is directly involved in mediating endothelial proliferation, or whether it may act as the chaperone for the actual angiogenic factor. Additional experimental evidence is required to unequivocally demonstrate the molecular role of GroEL in vascular proliferation.

Compared with *B. bacilliformis*, much less is known regarding the angiogenic activity of *B. henselae* and *B. quintana*. Susceptibility to trypsin digestion suggests that the angiogenic activity of at least *B. henselae* is also of a proteinaceous nature (29). To what extent the vasoproliferative factor(s) of *B. bacilliformis*, *B. henselae*, and *B. quintana* is related in structure and function, and whether they are benign endothelial mitogens or trigger proliferation indirectly via an autocrine loop, await further analysis.

Deformin: Deformation of Erythrocyte Membranes

One striking feature of *B. bacilliformis* interaction with human erythrocytes is the marked production of deeply invaginated pits and trenches in the erythrocyte membrane (8), which are considered entry portals for invading bacteria. This phenomenon appears to be triggered by a secreted bacterial factor termed deformin, which has been identified in the culture supernatants of *B. bacilliformis* and *B. henselae* (60). Deformin-induced invaginations can be reversed by treatment with the ATPase inhibitor vanadate, the phospholipid dilauroylphosphatidylcholine, or by increasing intracellular Ca²⁺ levels with ionophores (85, 126). Originally reported to be a protein (126), deformin is a small hydrophobic molecule with a high affinity for albumin, as indicated by more recent work by the same group (42). Deformin can be extracted from albumin as a heat- and protease-resistant, water-soluble molecule with a molecular mass of about 1.4 kDa. A very recent study indicates that a group of proteins of about 36 kDa present in the supernatant of *B. bacilliformis* are also required for high levels of deforming activity. When these proteins are missing, as in the supernatant of a variant strain, or are removed by filtration or ammonium sulfate precipitation, the levels of deforming activity are extremely low or abolished (58). The 36-kDa proteins are considered either directly responsible for deformation of human erythrocytes—they may be part of a deforming protein complex—or may be necessary for secretion of the deforming activity (58). Further work is required to reveal the precise molecular mechanisms of erythrocyte deformation by *B. bacilliformis*.

Flagella: Strengthening Erythrocyte Interaction

B. bacilliformis is highly motile due to the expression of multiple unipolar flagella (103). In vitro studies with human erythrocytes showed that bacterial motility correlates with bacterial adherence. Early work suggested that nonmotile variants bind poorly and do not invade erythrocytes (8, 85). Consistently, antibodies raised against the flagellin subunit partially inhibited erythrocyte binding and almost completely abolished invasion (103). Recently, a nonflagellated mutant obtained by site-directed mutagenesis of the flagellin gene displayed a 75% reduced binding capacity for human erythrocytes, and this phenotype could be partially rescued by complementation with the wild-type locus (7, 86). It remains to be demonstrated whether flagella directly bind to erythrocytes or whether the energy-dependent process of motility simply enhances bacteria-erythrocyte collisions. Early studies favor the latter possibility by showing that reagents inactivating proton motive force (N-ethylmaleimide) or respiration (KCN) significantly reduce bacterial binding to human erythrocytes (8, 103). The flagella of *B. bacilliformis* appear critical for the particularly high erythrocyte invasion rate observed in Oroya fever (up to 80% infected erythrocytes) (59). However, considering that several Bartonella spp. (e.g., B. henselae, B. quintana, and B. tribocorum) are nonflagellated but capable of invading erythrocytes (6, 55, 67, 77, 100, 101, 110), flagella cannot be essential for the process of erythrocyte invasion in these species.

Lipopolysaccharide: Unique Structure with Low Endotoxicity

The remarkable interaction of *B. henselae* and *B. quintana* with endotoxin-sensitive endothelial cells, which eventually leads to vasoproliferation, and the apparent lack of septic shock as a result of bacteremia suggest that the lipopolysaccharide (LPS) of these pathogens may display a reduced endotoxic activity (82). The endotoxic activity of highly purified LPS from *B. henselae* is 1,000 to 10,000 lower than that of enterobacterial LPS as measured by IL-8 secretion in response to TLR4 signaling (128). The complete structural analysis of this *B. henselae* LPS revealed a short-chain structure with several unusual features, including (*a*) a very short carbohydrate portion (a glucose residue attached to a 3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acid disaccharide), (*b*) an unusual core structure of lipid A (2,3-diamino-2,3-dideoxy-glucose disaccharide bisphosphate), and (*c*) pentaacetylation of lipid A including a long-chain fatty acid (25-hydroxyhexacosanoic or 27-hydroxyoctacosanoic acid) (128). Some of the unusual structural features of *B. henselae* LPS, such as the long-chain fatty acid of lipid A, are shared by the LPS of other intracellular bacteria that cause chronic infections (i.e., *Legionella*)

spp. and *Chlamydia* spp.). These features may provide the structural basis for the low endotoxic potency of these LPS structures (128).

Pili: Binding to Nucleated Cells

Pili appear to play an important role in adhesion to nucleated cells, which is thought to precede bacterium-directed phagocytosis and possibly also invasome-mediated invasion (6, 38). The presence of *B. henselae* pili was also associated with host cell production of VEGF, as a Pil-mutant was unable to induce VEGF production by infected Ea.hy 926 cells (62). Pili structures in *B. henselae*, *B. quintana*, *B. tribocorum*, and *B. alsatica* have been demonstrated by electron microscopy (6, 54, 55, 77). These organisms may possess type IV pili owing to the presence of a number of properties typical for this type of pili, e.g., twitching motility and self-aggregation (6).

Other Putative Pathogenesis Factors of Bartonella

The following paragraphs describe bacterial factors presumably involved in pathogenesis.

HEMIN-BINDING PROTEIN Hbp/Pap 31 The growth of *B. henselae* and *B. quintana* strongly depends on hemin (19, 129). At least five membrane-associated proteins of B. henselae and eight of B. quintana bind hemin, with the homologous proteins Pap31 and HbpA representing the dominant hemin-binding proteins of B. henselae and B. quintana, respectively (19, 129). The gene encoding Pap31 was heterologously expressed in the outer membrane of Escherichia coli. Complementation of a hemA-deficient E. coli mutant with Pap31 demonstrated that this protein is involved in heme acquisition and may thus be an important pathogenicity factor of B. henselae (129). The hemin-binding protein HbpA of B. quintana displayed typical features of outer membrane proteins (e.g., heat modification) (19). In addition to their close relation to Pap31 in B. henselae, HbpA homologs from a variety of gram-negative pathogens, including Brucella spp. outer membrane protein (Omp)31, Agrobacterium tumefaciens Omp25, and neisserial opacity proteins (Opa), were also identified (87). Moreover, HbpA is encoded as part of a fivemember gene family (hbpA-E) (87). Mutagenesis of hbpA by allelic exchange produced a strain that exhibited an enhanced hemin-binding phenotype relative to the parental strain. Analysis of the mutant by quantitative RT-PCR showed elevated transcript levels for the other *hbp* family members, suggesting that compensatory expression occurs (87).

HEMOLYSIN Following erythrocyte invasion by bartonellae, the subsequent intracellular colonization has typically a nonhemolytic course (67, 110). A striking exception is the massive hemolysis observed in Oroya fever caused by *B. bacilliformis* (59). A recent report has demonstrated contact-dependent hemolysis by *B. bacilliformis*, but not by *B. henselae* (57). The hemolytic activity is protease sensitive, suggesting that it corresponds to a surface-exposed protein. Whether this hemolysin is the sole factor distinguishing the hemolytic course of *B. bacilliformis* bacteremia from the nonhemolytic blood-stage infection by other bartonellae remains to be investigated.

INDUCIBLE *Bartonella* AUTOTRANSPORTER The genes encoding the novel *iba* (inducible *Bartonella* autotransporter) family of related autotransporter proteins (56) were identified in a genetic screen for *B. henselae* genes, which were specifically upregulated during HUVEC infection (112). Strikingly, in the *B. tribocorum*–rat model the *ibaB*-promoter is fully activated at the onset of blood-stage infection but is quickly downregulated following erythrocyte invasion. These data suggest that the promoter is activated either in the primary niche or when bacteria are released from this niche into the bloodstream. The in vivo regulation pattern of the *ibaB* gene is indicative for a role of the encoded autotransporter in establishing hemotropic infection (112).

INVASION-ASSOCIATED LOCUS The invasion-associated locus (ial) of B. bacilliformis, composed of *ialA* and *ialB*, was identified by a genetic approach in E. coli as a putative virulence determinant implicated in erythrocyte invasion. Introduction of the *ialA* and *ialB* genes into E. *coli* conferred a minimally invasive phenotype for human red blood cells in vitro (89). The *ial* locus is highly conserved across the genus Bartonella (90) (C. Gille & C. Dehio, unpublished results). The ialA gene encodes a nucleoside polyphosphate hydrolase of the MutT motif family (20, 30). These enzymes are believed to eliminate toxic nucleotide derivatives from the cell and to regulate the levels of important signaling nucleotides and their metabolites (83). How this enzymatic activity of IalA relates to the process of erythrocyte invasion is unknown. The *ialB* gene encodes an 18-kDa protein that has been localized to the bacterial inner membrane (28). Site-directed mutagenesis of *ialB* in B. bacilliformis results in a 50% reduced capacity to interact with human erythrocytes in vitro, whereas the mutant phenotype was rescued by complementation with the wild-type locus (28). The mechanism by which the inner membrane protein IalB contributes to erythrocyte invasion remains elusive.

OUTER MEMBRANE PROTEIN 43 Multiple outer membrane proteins (Omps) of *B. henselae* were reported to bind to endothelial cells (16), particularly a 43-kDa protein (Omp43) displaying amino acid sequence similarity to the Omp2b porin of *Brucella* spp. (17). Recombinant Omp43 binds to HUVEC (17). However, whether native Omp43 in the bacterial outer membrane can mediate the binding of *B. henselae* to endothelial cells remains to be demonstrated.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The molecular and genetic tools now available for studying *Bartonella*, coupled with the recent establishment of cell culture and animal infection models, have improved our understanding of *Bartonella*–host cell interactions and have identified the first pathogenicity factors of this pathogen, e.g., the VirB/D4 T4SS and their

translocated protein substrates, which play a crucial role in subverting host cell function. Despite these significant advances, our understanding of Bartonella pathogenesis is still incomplete. Important questions regarding Bartonella infection in the reservoir host include the nature of the primary niche, its relation to endothelial cells, and the molecular mechanisms determining host-specific intracerythrocytic parasitism. In respect to *B. bacilliformis* it is unclear how this deadly pathogen causes hemolysis. A major open question in regard to human pathology is to what extent vasoproliferative tumor formation depends on the two described mechanisms of vasoproliferation: either the direct stimulation of endothelial cell proliferation and antiapoptosis or the indirect stimulation of endothelial cell proliferation by a paracrine angiogenic loop established by the release of VEGF from infected macrophages. Finally, we are likely unaware of several bacterial factors that play important roles in these pathogenic processes. At least some of these open issues may be addressed by an ongoing systematic search for novel Bartonella virulence determinants by signature-tagged mutagenesis (H. Saenz, M. Stockli & C. Dehio, unpublished data). Moreover, at least three Bartonella genome-sequencing projects are at or near completion (http://www.genomesonline.org/; S. Schuster & C. Dehio, unpublished data). The advent of comparative genomics will likely reveal important clues regarding the evolution and pathogenic mechanisms of bartonellae and should promote experiments to improve our understanding of these enigmatic pathogens.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I thank G. Schröder and T. Bickle for helpful comments on this manuscript. I am also grateful to my colleagues and the members of my laboratory for sharing unpublished data included in this review. Research in my laboratory is supported by grant 3100-06,1777.00/2 from the Swiss National Science Foundation.

The Annual Review of Microbiology is online at http://micro.annualreviews.org

LITERATURE CITED

- Abbott RC, Chomel BB, Kasten RW, Floyd-Hawkins KA, Kikuchi Y, et al. 1997. Experimental and natural infection with *Bartonella henselae* in domestic cats. *Comp. Immunol. Microbiol. Infect. Dis.* 20:41–51
- Anderson B, Lu E, Jones D, Regnery R. 1995. Characterization of a 17-kilodalton antigen of *Bartonella henselae* reactive with sera from patients with cat scratch disease. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* 33:2358– 65
- Barton AL. 1909. Descripción de elementos endo-globulares hallados en las enfermos de fiebre verrucosa. La Crónica Médica de Lima 26:7–10
- Bass JW, Vincent JM, Person DA. 1997. The expanding spectrum of *Bartonella* infections. I. Bartonellosis and trench fever. *Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J.* 16:2–10
- Bass JW, Vincent JM, Person DA. 1997. The expanding spectrum of *Bartonella* infections. II. Cat-scratch disease. *Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J.* 16:163–79

- Batterman HJ, Peek JA, Loutit JS, Falkow S, Tompkins LS. 1995. Bartonella henselae and Bartonella quintana adherence to and entry into cultured human epithelial cells. Infect. Immun. 63:4553– 56
- Battisti JM, Minnick MF. 1999. Development of a system for genetic manipulation of *Bartonella bacilliformis*. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 65:3441–48
- Benson LA, Kar S, McLaughlin G, Ihler GM. 1986. Entry of *Bartonella bacilliformis* into erythrocytes. *Infect. Immun.* 54:347–53
- Bermond D, Boulouis HJ, Heller R, Van Laere G, Monteil H, et al. 2002. *Bartonella bovis* Bermond et al. sp. nov. and *Bartonella capreoli* sp. nov., isolated from European ruminants. *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.* 52:383–90
- Bermond D, Heller R, Barrat F, Delacour G, Dehio C, et al. 2000. *Bartonella birtlesii* sp. nov., isolated from small mammals (*Apodemus* spp.). *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.* 50:1973–79
- 11. Birtles RJ, Harrison TG, Saunders NA, Molyneux DH. 1995. Proposals to unify the genera Grahamella and Bartonella, with descriptions of Bartonella talpae comb. nov., Bartonella peromysci comb. nov., and three new species, Bartonella grahamii sp. nov., Bartonella taylorii sp. nov., and Bartonella doshiae sp. nov. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. 45:1–8
- Boulouis HJ, Barrat F, Bermond D, Bernex F, Thibault D, et al. 2001. Kinetics of *Bartonella birtlesii* infection in experimentally infected mice and pathogenic effect on reproductive functions. *Infect. Immun.* 69:5313–17
- 13. Brenner DJ, O'Connor SP, Winkler HH, Steigerwalt AG. 1993. Proposals to unify the genera *Bartonella* and *Rochalimaea*, with descriptions of *Bartonella quintana* comb. nov., *Bartonella vinsonii* comb. nov., *Bartonella henselae* comb. nov., and *Bartonella elizabethae* comb. nov., and to remove the family *Bartonellaceae* from

the order Rickettsiales. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. 43:777–86

- Brouqui P, Raoult D. 1996. Bartonella quintana invades and multiplies within endothelial cells in vitro and in vivo and forms intracellular blebs. Res. Microbiol. 147:719–31
- Buckles EL, McGinnis Hill E. 2000. Interaction of *Bartonella bacilliformis* with human erythrocyte membrane proteins. *Microb. Pathog.* 29:165–74
- Burgess AW, Anderson BE. 1998. Outer membrane proteins of *Bartonella henselae* and their interaction with human endothelial cells. *Microb. Pathog.* 25:157– 64
- Burgess AW, Paquet JY, Letesson JJ, Anderson BE. 2000. Isolation, sequencing and expression of *Bartonella henselae* Omp43 and predicted membrane topology of the deduced protein. *Microb. Pathog.* 29:73–80
- Carlos TM, Harlan JM. 1994. Leukocyteendothelial adhesion molecules. *Blood* 84:2068–101
- Carroll JA, Coleman SA, Smitherman LS, Minnick MF. 2000. Hemin-binding surface protein from *Bartonella quintana*. *Infect. Immun.* 68:6750–57
- Cartwright JL, Britton P, Minnick MF, McLennan AG. 1999. The IalA invasion gene of *Bartonella bacilliformiss* encodes a (de)nucleoside polyphosphate hydrolase of the MutT motif family and has homologs in other invasive bacteria. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 256: 474–79
- Cascales E, Christie PJ. 2003. The versatile bacterial type IV secretion systems. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 1:137–49
- Chamberlin J, Laughlin LW, Romero S, Solorzano N, Gordon S, et al. 2002. Epidemiology of endemic *Bartonella bacilliformis*: a prospective cohort study in a Peruvian mountain valley community. *J. Infect. Dis.* 186:983–90
- 23. Chang CC, Chomel BB, Kasten RW, Heller RM, Ueno H, et al. 2000.

Bartonella spp. isolated from wild and domestic ruminants in North America. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 6:306–11

- Chomel BB. 2000. Cat-scratch disease. *Rev. Sci. Technol.* 19:136–50
- 25. Chomel BB, Abbott RC, Kasten RW, Floyd-Hawkins KA, Kass PH, et al. 1995. *Bartonella henselae* prevalence in domestic cats in California: risk factors and association between bacteremia and antibody titers. J. Clin. Microbiol. 33:2445–50
- Chomel BB, Kasten RW, Floyd-Hawkins K, Chi B, Yamamoto K, et al. 1996. Experimental transmission of *Bartonella henselae* by the cat flea. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* 34:1952–56
- 27. Chomel BB, Kasten RW, Sykes JE, Boulouis HJ, Breitschwerdt EB. 2003. Clinical impact of persistent *Bartonella* bacteremia in humans and animals. *Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* 990:267–78
- Coleman SA, Minnick MF. 2001. Establishing a direct role for the *Bartonella bacilliformis* invasion-associated locus B (IalB) protein in human erythrocyte parasitism. *Infect. Immun.* 69:4373–81
- Conley T, Slater L, Hamilton K. 1994. *Rochalimaea* species stimulate human endothelial cell proliferation and migration in vitro. *J. Lab. Clin. Med.* 124:521–28
- Conyers GB, Bessman MJ. 1999. The gene, *ialA*, associated with the invasion of human erythrocytes by *Bartonella bacilliformis*, designates a nudix hydrolase active on dinucleoside 5'-polyphosphates. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274:1203–6
- Daly JS, Worthington MG, Brenner DJ, Moss CW, Hollis DG, et al. 1993. *Rochalimaea elizabethae* sp. nov. isolated from a patient with endocarditis. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* 31:872–81
- 32. De Martin R, Hoeth M, Hofer-Warbinek R, Schmid JA. 2000. The transcription factor NF-kappaB and the regulation of vascular cell function. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 20:E83–88
- Debré R, Lamy M, Jammet ML, Costil L, Mozziconacci P. 1950. La maladie des

griffes du chat. *Bull. Mem. Soc. Med. Hop.* 66:76–79

- Dehio C. 2001. *Bartonella* interactions with endothelial cells and erythrocytes. *Trends Microbiol.* 9:279–85
- Dehio C. 2003. Recent progress in understanding *Bartonella*-induced vascular proliferation. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 6:61–65
- 36. Dehio C, Lanz C, Pohl R, Behrens P, Bermond D, et al. 2001. Bartonella schoenbuchii sp. nov., isolated from the blood of wild roe deer. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 51:1557–65
- 37. Dehio C, Meyer M. 1997. Maintenance of broad-host-range incompatibility group P and group Q plasmids and transposition of Tn5 in *Bartonella henselae* following conjugal plasmid transfer from *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 179:538–40
- 38. Dehio C, Meyer M, Berger J, Schwarz H, Lanz C. 1997. Interaction of *Bartonella henselae* with endothelial cells results in bacterial aggregation on the cell surface and the subsequent engulfment and internalisation of the bacterial aggregate by a unique structure, the invasome. *J. Cell Sci.* 110:2141–54
- Dehio C, Sander A. 1999. Bartonella as emerging pathogens. Trends Microbiol. 7:226–28
- 40. Dehio C, Sauder U, Hiestand R. 2004. Culture of *Bartonella schoenbuchensis* from the blood-sucking deer ked *Lipoptena cervi*: a potential vector for anthropozoonotic transmission. In press
- 41. Dehio M, Knorre A, Lanz C, Dehio C. 1998. Construction of versatile high-level expression vectors for *Bartonella henselae* and the use of green fluorescent protein as a new expression marker. *Gene* 215:223–29
- 42. Derrick SC, Ihler GM. 2001. Deformin, a substance found in *Bartonella bacilliformis* culture supernatants, is a small, hydrophobic molecule with an affinity for albumin. *Blood Cells Mol. Dis.* 27:1013– 19

- Dramsi S, Cossart P. 1998. Intracellular pathogens and the actin cytoskeleton. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 14:137–66
- Droz S, Chi B, Horn E, Steigerwalt AG, Whitney AM, Brenner DJ. 1999. Bartonella koehlerae sp. nov., isolated from cats. J. Clin. Microbiol. 37:1117–22
- 45. Ellis BA, Regnery RL, Beati L, Bacellar F, Rood M, et al. 1999. Rats of the genus *Rattus* are reservoir hosts for pathogenic *Bartonella* species: an Old World origin for a New World disease? J. Infect. Dis. 180:220–24
- 46. Fuhrmann O, Arvand M, Gohler A, Schmid M, Krull M, et al. 2001. *Bartonella henselae* induces NF-kappaBdependent upregulation of adhesion molecules in cultured human endothelial cells: possible role of outer membrane proteins as pathogenic factors. *Infect. Immun.* 69:5088–97
- 47. Garcia FU, Wojta J, Broadley KN, Davidson JM, Hoover RL. 1990. Bartonella bacilliformis stimulates endothelial cells in vitro and is angiogenic in vivo. Am. J. Pathol. 136:1125–35
- Garcia FU, Wojta J, Hoover RL. 1992. Interactions between live *Bartonella bacilliformis* and endothelial cells. *J. Infect. Dis.* 165:1138–41
- Grasseschi HA, Minnick MF. 1994. Transformation of *Bartonella bacilliformis* by electroporation. *Can. J. Microbiol.* 40:782–86
- Guptill L, Slater L, Wu CC, Lin TL, Glickman LT, et al. 1997. Experimental infection of young specific pathogen-free cats with *Bartonella henselae*. J. Infect. Dis. 176:206–16
- Gurfield AN, Boulouis HJ, Chomel BB, Kasten RW, Heller R, et al. 2001. Epidemiology of *Bartonella* infection in domestic cats in France. *Vet. Microbiol.* 80: 185–98
- Hacker G, Fischer SF. 2002. Bacterial anti-apoptotic activities. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 211:1–6
- 53. Hacker J, Hentschel U, Dobrindt U. 2003.

Prokaryotic chromosomes and disease. *Science* 301:790–93

- Heller R, Kubina M, Mariet P, Riegel P, Delacour G, et al. 1999. *Bartonella alsatica* sp. nov., a new *Bartonella* species isolated from the blood of wild rabbits. *Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol.* 49:283–88
- 55. Heller R, Riegel P, Hansmann Y, Delacour G, Bermond D, et al. 1998. Bartonella tribocorum sp. nov., a new Bartonella species isolated from the blood of wild rats. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. 48:1333–39
- Henderson IR, Cappello R, Nataro JP. 2000. Autotransporter proteins, evolution and redefining protein secretion. *Trends Microbiol.* 8:529–32
- Hendrix LR. 2000. Contact-dependent hemolytic activity distinct from deforming activity of *Bartonella bacilliformis*. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 182:119–24
- Hendrix LR, Kiss K. 2003. Studies on the identification of deforming factor from *Bartonella bacilliformis. Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* 990:596–604
- Ihler GM. 1996. Bartonella bacilliformis: dangerous pathogen slowly emerging from deep background. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 144:1–11
- 60. Iwaki-Egawa S, Ihler GM. 1997. Comparison of the abilities of proteins from *Bartonella bacilliformis* and *Bartonella henselae* to deform red cell membranes and to bind to red cell ghost proteins. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 157:207–17
- Kempf VA, Hitziger N, Riess T, Autenrieth IB. 2002. Do plant and human pathogens have a common pathogenicity strategy? *Trends Microbiol.* 10:269–75
- 62. Kempf VA, Volkmann B, Schaller M, Sander CA, Alitalo K, et al. 2001. Evidence of a leading role for VEGF in *Bartonella henselae*-induced endothelial cell proliferations. *Cell. Microbiol.* 3:623–32
- 63. Kerkhoff FT, Bergmans AM, van Der Zee A, Rothova A. 1999. Demonstration of *Bartonella grahamii* DNA in ocular fluids of a patient with neuroretinitis. J. Clin. Microbiol. 37:4034–38

- Kirby JE, Nekorchuk DM. 2002. Bartonella-associated endothelial proliferation depends on inhibition of apoptosis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 99:4656–61
- Koehler JE, Glaser CA, Tappero JW. 1994. *Rochalimaea henselae* infection. A new zoonosis with the domestic cat as reservoir. *JAMA* 271:531–35
- 66. Koesling J, Aebischer T, Falch C, Schulein R, Dehio C. 2001. Cutting edge: antibody-mediated cessation of hemotropic infection by the intraerythrocytic mouse pathogen *Bartonella grahamii. J. Immunol.* 167:11–14
- Kordick DL, Breitschwerdt EB. 1995. Intraerythrocytic presence of *Bartonella henselae. J. Clin. Microbiol.* 33:1655–56
- Kordick DL, Hilyard EJ, Hadfield TL, Wilson KH, Steigerwalt AG, et al. 1997. *Bartonella clarridgeiae*, a newly recognized zoonotic pathogen causing inoculation papules, fever, and lymphadenopathy (cat scratch disease). *J. Clin. Microbiol.* 35:1813–18
- Kordick DL, Swaminathan B, Greene CE, Wilson KH, Whitney AM, et al. 1996. Bartonella vinsonii subsp. berkhoffii subsp. nov., isolated from dogs; Bartonella vinsonii subsp. vinsonii; and emended description of Bartonella vinsonii. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. 46:704–9
- Kosoy M, Murray M, Gilmore RD Jr, Bai Y, Gage KL. 2003. Bartonella strains from ground squirrels are identical to Bartonella washoensis isolated from a human patient. J. Clin. Microbiol. 41:645– 50
- Kosoy MY, Regnery RL, Kosaya OI, Childs JE. 1999. Experimental infection of cotton rats with three naturally occurring *Bartonella* species. J. Wildl. Dis. 35:275–84
- Kosoy MY, Saito EK, Green D, Marston EL, Jones DC, Childs JE. 2000. Experimental evidence of host specificity of *Bartonella* infection in rodents. *Comp. Immunol. Microbiol. Infect. Dis.* 23:221–38

- Kostianovsky M, Greco MA. 1994. Angiogenic process in bacillary angiomatosis. Ultrastruct. Pathol. 18:349–55
- Lamas CC, Eykyn SJ. 2003. Blood culture negative endocarditis: analysis of 63 cases presenting over 25 years. *Heart* 89:258– 62
- Lax AJ, Thomas W. 2002. How bacteria could cause cancer: one step at a time. *Trends Microbiol.* 10:293–99
- Lee AK, Falkow S. 1998. Constitutive and inducible green fluorescent protein expression in *Bartonella henselae*. *Infect. Immun.* 66:3964–67
- Maeno N, Oda H, Yoshiie K, Wahid MR, Fujimura T, Matayoshi S. 1999. Live *Bartonella henselae* enhances endothelial cell proliferation without direct contact. *Microb. Pathog.* 27:419–27
- Maeno N, Yoshiie K, Matayoshi S, Fujimura T, Mao S, et al. 2002. A heat-stable component of *Bartonella henselae* upregulates intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression on vascular endothelial cells. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 55:366–72
- Maillard R, Riegel P, Barrat F, Bouillin C, Thibault D, et al. 2004. *Bartonella chomelii* sp. nov., isolated from French domestic cattle (*Bos taurus*). *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.* 54:215–20
- Manders SM. 1996. Bacillary angiomatosis. Clin. Dermatol. 14:295–99
- Marin V, Montero-Julian FA, Gres S, Boulay V, Bongrand P, et al. 2001. The IL-6-soluble IL-6Rα autocrine loop of endothelial activation as an intermediate between acute and chronic inflammation: an experimental model involving thrombin. *J. Immunol.* 167:3435–42
- 82. Matera G, Liberto MC, Quirino A, Barreca GS, Lamberti AG, et al. 2003. Bartonella quintana lipopolysaccharide effects on leukocytes, CXC chemokines and apoptosis: a study on the human whole blood and a rat model. Int. Immunopharmacol. 3:853–64
- 83. McLennan AG. 1999. The MutT motif family of nucleotide phosphohydrolases

in man and human pathogens (review). Int. J. Mol. Med. 4:79-89

- Mehock JR, Greene CE, Gherardini FC, Hahn TW, Krause DC. 1998. *Bartonella henselae* invasion of feline erythrocytes in vitro. *Infect. Immun.* 66:3462–66
- Mernaugh G, Ihler GM. 1992. Deformation factor: an extracellular protein synthesized by *Bartonella bacilliformis* that deforms erythrocyte membranes. *Infect. Immun.* 60:937–43
- Minnick MF, Anderson BE. 2000. Bartonella interactions with host cells. Subcell. Biochem. 33:97–123
- Minnick MF, Sappington KN, Smitherman LS, Andersson SG, Karlberg O, Carroll JA. 2003. Five-member gene family of *Bartonella quintana*. *Infect. Immun.* 71:814–21
- Minnick MF, Smitherman LS, Samuels DS. 2003. Mitogenic effect of *Bartonella bacilliformis* on human vascular endothelial cells and involvement of GroEL. *Infect. Immun.* 71:6933–42
- Mitchell SJ, Minnick MF. 1995. Characterization of a two-gene locus from *Bartonella bacilliformis* associated with the ability to invade human erythrocytes. *Infect. Immun.* 63:1552–62
- Mitchell SJ, Minnick MF. 1997. Cloning, functional expression, and complementation analysis of an inorganic pyrophosphatase from *Bartonella bacilliformis*. *Can. J. Microbiol.* 43:734–43
- 91. Munk F, da Rocha-Lima H. 1917. Klinik und Ätiologie des sogen. "Wolhynischen Fiebers." (Werner-His'sche Krankheit). II. Ergebnis der ätiologischen Untersuchung und deren Beziehung zur Fleckfieberforschung. Münch. Med. Wochenschrift 64:1422–26
- 92. Musso T, Badolato R, Ravarino D, Stornello S, Panzanelli P, et al. 2001. Interaction of *Bartonella henselae* with the murine macrophage cell line J774: infection and proinflammatory response. *Infect. Immun.* 69:5974–80
- 93. Padmalayam I, Karem K, Baumstark B,

Massung R. 2000. The gene encoding the 17-kDa antigen of *Bartonella henselae* is located within a cluster of genes homologous to the *virB* virulence operon. *DNA Cell Biol.* 19:377–82

- Raoult D, Foucault C, Brouqui P. 2001. Infections in the homeless. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* 1:77–84
- 95. Regnery RL, Anderson BE, Clarridge JE 3rd, Rodriguez-Barradas MC, Jones DC, Carr JH. 1992. Characterization of a novel *Rochalimaea* species, *R. henselae* sp. nov., isolated from blood of a febrile, human immunodeficiency virus-positive patient. J. Clin. Microbiol. 30:265–74
- Relman DA, Loutit JS, Schmidt TM, Falkow S, Tompkins LS. 1990. The agent of bacillary angiomatosis. An approach to the identification of uncultured pathogens. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 323:1573–80
- Resto-Ruiz S, Burgess A, Anderson BE. 2003. The role of the host immune response in pathogenesis of *Bartonella henselae*. DNA Cell Biol. 22:431–40
- Resto-Ruiz SI, Schmiederer M, Sweger D, Newton C, Klein TW, et al. 2002. Induction of a potential paracrine angiogenic loop between human THP-1 macrophages and human microvascular endothelial cells during *Bartonella henselae* infection. *Infect. Immun.* 70:4564–70
- 99. Riess T, Anderson B, Fackelmayer A, Autenrieth IB, Kempf VA. 2003. Rapid and efficient transposon mutagenesis of *Bartonella henselae* by transposome technology. *Gene* 313:103–9
- 100. Rolain JM, Foucault C, Guieu R, La Scola B, Brouqui P, Raoult D. 2002. Bartonella quintana in human erythrocytes. Lancet 360:226–28
- 101. Rolain JM, La Scola B, Liang Z, Davoust B, Raoult D. 2001. Immunofluorescent detection of intraerythrocytic *Bartonella henselae* in naturally infected cats. J. Clin. *Microbiol.* 39:2978–80
- 102. Sander A, Zagrosek A, Bredt W, Schiltz E, Piemont Y, et al. 2000. Characterization of *Bartonella clarridgeiae* flagellin

(FlaA) and detection of antiflagellin antibodies in patients with lymphadenopathy. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* 38:2943–48

- Scherer DC, DeBuron-Connors I, Minnick MF. 1993. Characterization of *Bartonella bacilliformis* flagella and effect of antiflagellin antibodies on invasion of human erythrocytes. *Infect. Immun.* 61:4962–71
- 104. Schmid MC, Schulein R, Dehio M, Denecker G, Carena I, Dehio C. 2004. The VirB type IV secretion system of *Bartonella henselae* mediates invasion, proinflammatory activation, and anti-apoptotic protection of endothelial cells. *Mol. Microbiol.* 52:81–92
- 105. Schmiederer M, Anderson B. 2000. Cloning, sequencing, and expression of three *Bartonella henselae* genes homologous to the *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* VirB region. DNA Cell Biol. 19:141–47
- 106. Schmiederer M, Arcenas R, Widen R, Valkov N, Anderson B. 2001. Intracellular induction of the *Bartonella henselae virB* operon by human endothelial cells. *Infect. Immun.* 69:6495–502
- 107. Schmincke RA. 1917. Histopathologischer Befund in Roseolen der Haut bei Wolhynischem Fieber. Münch. Med. Wochenschrift 64:961
- Schulein R, Dehio C. 2002. The VirB/ VirD4 type IV secretion system of *Bartonella* is essential for establishing intraerythrocytic infection. *Mol. Microbiol.* 46:1053–67
- 109. Deleted in proof
- 110. Schulein R, Seubert A, Gille C, Lanz C, Hansmann Y, et al. 2001. Invasion and persistent intracellular colonization of erythrocytes. A unique parasitic strategy of the emerging pathogen *Bartonella. J. Exp. Med.* 193:1077–86
- 111. Seubert A, Hiestand R, de la Cruz F, Dehio C. 2003. A bacterial conjugation machinery recruited for pathogenesis. *Mol. Microbiol.* 49:1253–66
- 112. Seubert A, Schulein R, Dehio C. 2002. Bacterial persistence within erythrocytes:

a unique pathogenic strategy of *Bartonella* spp. *Int. J. Med. Microbiol.* 291: 555–60

- 113. Slater LN, Welch DF, Min KW. 1992. Rochalimaea henselae causes bacillary angiomatosis and peliosis hepatis. Arch. Intern. Med. 152:602–6
- 114. Sweger D, Resto-Ruiz S, Johnson DP, Schmiederer M, Hawke N, Anderson B. 2000. Conservation of the 17-kilodalton antigen gene within the genus *Bartonella*. *Clin. Diagn. Lab. Immunol.* 7:251– 57
- 115. Tappero JW, Mohle-Boetani J, Koehler JE, Swaminathan B, Berger TG, et al. 1993. The epidemiology of bacillary angiomatosis and bacillary peliosis. *JAMA* 269:770–75
- 116. Torisu H, Ono M, Kiryu H, Furue M, Ohmoto Y, et al. 2000. Macrophage infiltration correlates with tumor stage and angiogenesis in human malignant melanoma: possible involvement of TNFα and IL-1α. Int. J. Cancer 85:182– 88
- 117. van Der Flier M, Coenjaerts F, Kimpen JL, Hoepelman AM, Geelen SP. 2000. Streptococcus pneumoniae induces secretion of vascular endothelial growth factor by human neutrophils. Infect. Immun. 68:4792– 94
- 118. Verma A, Davis GE, Ihler GM. 2000. Infection of human endothelial cells with *Bartonella bacilliformis* is dependent on Rho and results in activation of Rho. *Infect. Immun.* 68:5960–69
- 119. Verma A, Davis GE, Ihler GM. 2001. Formation of stress fibres in human endothelial cells infected with *Bartonella bacilliformis* is associated with altered morphology, impaired migration and defects in cell morphogenesis. *Cell. Microbiol.* 3:169–80
- 120. Verma A, Ihler GM. 2002. Activation of Rac, Cdc42 and other downstream signalling molecules by *Bartonella bacilliformis* during entry into human endothelial cells. *Cell. Microbiol.* 4:557–69

- 121. Vinson JW, Fuller HS. 1961. Studies on trench fever. 1. Propagation of Rickettsialike organisms from a patient's blood. *Pathol. Microbiol.* 24:152–66
- 122. Watarai M, Kim S, Erdenebaatar J, Makino S, Horiuchi M, et al. 2003. Cellular prion protein promotes *Brucella* infection into macrophages. *J. Exp. Med.* 198: 5–17
- 123. Weiss E, Dasch GA. 1982. Differential characteristics of strains of *Rochalimaea*: *Rochalimaea vinsonii* sp. nov., the Canadian vole agent. *Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol.* 32:305–14
- 124. Welch DF, Carroll KC, Hofmeister EK, Persing DH, Robison DA, et al. 1999. Isolation of a new subspecies, *Bartonella* vinsonii subsp. arupensis, from a cattle rancher: identity with isolates found in conjunction with *Borrelia burgdorferi* and *Babesia microti* among naturally infected mice. J. Clin. Microbiol. 37:2598– 601
- 125. Wong AK, Alfert M, Castrillon DH, Shen Q, Holash J, et al. 2001. Excessive tumorelaborated VEGF and its neutralization define a lethal paraneoplastic syndrome.

Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 98:7481-86

- 126. Xu YH, Lu ZY, Ihler GM. 1995. Purification of deformin, an extracellular protein synthesized by *Bartonella bacilliformis* which causes deformation of erythrocyte membranes. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1234:173–83
- 127. Yeo HJ, Yuan Q, Beck MR, Baron C, Waksman G. 2003. Structural and functional characterization of the VirB5 protein from the type IV secretion system encoded by the conjugative plasmid pKM101. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 100:15947–52
- 128. Zähringer U, Lindner B, Knirel YA, van den Akker WMR, Hiestand R, et al. 2004. Structure and biological activity of the short-chain lipopolysaccharide from *Bartonella henselae* ATCC 49882^T. J. Biol. Chem. 279:21046–54
- 129. Zimmermann R, Kempf VA, Schiltz E, Oberle K, Sander A. 2003. Hemin binding, functional expression, and complementation analysis of Pap 31 from *Bartonella henselae*. J. Bacteriol. 185: 1739–44

CONTENTS

FRONTISPIECE, Arnold L. Demain	xii
PICKLES, PECTIN, AND PENICILLIN, Arnold L. Demain	1
ANAEROBIC MICROBIAL DEHALOGENATION, Hauke Smidt and Willem M. de Vos	43
SIGNALING IN MYXOBACTERIA, Dale Kaiser	75
ANAEROBIC OXIDATION OF METHANE AND AMMONIUM, <i>Marc Strous</i> and Mike S.M. Jetten	99
SELECTION FOR GENE CLUSTERING BY TANDEM DUPLICATION, Andrew B. Reams and Ellen L. Neidle	119
THE VIBRIO SHILOI/OCULINA PATAGONICA MODEL SYSTEM OF CORAL BLEACHING, Eugene Rosenberg and Leah Falkovitz	143
STATIONARY-PHASE PHYSIOLOGY, Thomas Nyström	161
VIRAL ERROR CATASTROPHE BY MUTAGENIC NUCLEOSIDES, Jon P. Anderson, Richard Daifuku, and Lawrence A. Loeb	183
THE ECOLOGY AND GENETICS OF MICROBIAL DIVERSITY, Rees Kassen and Paul B. Rainey	207
RIBOSOMAL CRYSTALLOGRAPHY: INITIATION, PEPTIDE BOND FORMATION, AND AMINO ACID POLYMERIZATION ARE HAMPERED BY ANTIBIOTICS, Ada Yonath and Anat Bashan	233
HERPES VECTOR-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER IN TREATMENT OF DISEASES OF THE NERVOUS SYSTEM, Joseph C. Glorioso and David J. Fink	253
EARLY MOLECULAR INVESTIGATIONS OF LICHEN-FORMING SYMBIONTS: 1986–2001, <i>Paula T. DePriest</i>	273
THE SMALL RNA REGULATORS OF <i>ESCHERICHIA COLI</i> : ROLES AND MECHANISMS, <i>Susan Gottesman</i>	303
JOHNE'S DISEASE, INFLAMMATORY BOWEL DISEASE, AND MYCOBACTERIUM PARATUBERCULOSIS, Ofelia Chacon, Luiz E. Bermudez, and	
Raúl G. Barletta	329
MOLECULAR AND CELLULAR BASIS OF <i>BARTONELLA</i> PATHOGENESIS, <i>Christoph Dehio</i>	365

CELL-MEDIATED IMMUNITY AND THE OUTCOME OF HEPATITIS C VIRUS INFECTION, Naglaa H. Shoukry, Andrew G. Cawthon, and	
Christopher M. Walker	391
RECENT ADVANCES IN THE CHARACTERIZATION OF AMBIENT PH REGULATION OF GENE EXPRESSION IN FILAMENTOUS FUNGI AND YEASTS, <i>Miguel A. Peñalva and Herbert N. Arst, Jr.</i>	425
BIOSYNTHESIS OF NONRIBOSOMAL PEPTIDES, Robert Finking and Mohamed A. Marahiel	453
CIRCADIAN RHYTHMS IN MICROORGANISMS: NEW COMPLEXITIES, Patricia L. Lakin-Thomas and Stuart Brody	489
THE CELLULOSOMES: MULTIENZYME MACHINES FOR DEGRADATION OF PLANT CELL WALL POLYSACCHARIDES, <i>Edward A. Bayer</i> , <i>Jean-Pierre Belaich, Yuval Shoham, and Raphael Lamed</i>	521
BIOPHYSICAL ANALYSES OF DESIGNED AND SELECTED MUTANTS OF PROTOCATECHUATE 3,4-DIOXYGENASE, C. Kent Brown, Matthew W. Vetting, Cathleen A. Earhart, and Douglas H. Ohlendorf	555
MOLECULAR DETERMINANTS OF LISTERIA MONOCYTOGENES VIRULENCE, Olivier Dussurget, Javier Pizarro-Cerda, and Pascale Cossart	587
BACTERIAL IRON SOURCES: FROM SIDEROPHORES TO HEMOPHORES, Cécile Wandersman and Philippe Delepelaire	611
ENDANGERED ANTARCTIC ENVIRONMENTS, Don A. Cowan and Lemese Ah Tow	649
INDEXES Subject Index Cumulative Index of Contributing Authors, Volumes 54–58 Cumulative Index of Chapter Titles, Volumes 54–58	691 735 738
- Eddata	

Errata

An online log of corrections to *Annual Review of Microbiology* chapters may be found at http://micro.annualreviews.org/